
From: Jaswal, Gagandeep <Gagandeep.Jaswal@brampton.ca>
Sent: June 20, 2023 11:58 AM
To: Charmaine.Williams@pc.ola.org; Prabmeet.Sarkaria@pc.ola.org; 

Graham.McGregor@pc.ola.org; Hardeep.Grewal@pc.ola.org; 
Amarjot.Sandhu@pc.ola.org; steve.clark@pc.ola.org; Adams, Aretha; Miniter Mah; ZZG-
RegionalClerk; amo@amo.on.ca; Kallideen, Marlon; Ganesh, Steve; Zbogar, Henrik; 
Yadav, Jessica

Cc: Lee, Stephanie; Qi, Melissa; Wellings, Margaret
Subject: Committee of Council Correspondence – May 10 2023 - Recommendation Report for 

City Comments on Bill 97, Helping Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023
Attachments: 20230510cwcr_cw185.pdf; Report - City Comments on Bill 97, Helping Homebuyers, 

Protecting Tenants Act, 2023.pdf

Good morning, 

Please find attached correspondence from the May 10, 2023 Committee of Council meeting. The subject 
recommendation was approved by Council on May 17, 2023. 

Thank you, 

Gagandeep Jaswal (she/her)
Legislative Assistant, City Clerk’s Office 
City of Brampton  
T: 905.874.2116  
gagandeep.jaswal@brampton.ca  

Please review the City of Brampton e-mail disclaimer statement at: http://www.brampton.ca/EN/Online-
Services/Pages/Privacy-Statement.aspx  
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June 5, 2023       Sent by email 
 
 
Brampton Members of Provincial Parliament (MPPs): 

 

The Honourable Charmaine Williams, MPP – Brampton Centre 
Charmaine.Williams@pc.ola.org    
 

The Honourable Prabmeet Singh Sarkaria, MPP - Brampton South 
Prabmeet.Sarkaria@pc.ola.org  
 

Graham McGregor, MPP – Brampton North 
Graham.McGregor@pc.ola.org   
 

Hardeep Grewal, MPP – Brampton East 
Hardeep.Grewal@pc.ola.org   
 

Amarjot Sandhu, MPP – Brampton West 
Amarjot.Sandhu@pc.ola.org  

 
The Honourable Steve Clark    A. Adams, Regional Clerk 
Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing  Regional Municipality of Peel 
steve.clark@pc.ola.org      aretha.adams@peelregion.ca 
minister.mah@ontario.ca    regional.clerk@peelregion.ca 
 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario 
amo@amo.on.ca 
 
 
Re: Recommendation Report for City Comments on Bill 97, Helping Homebuyers, 

Protecting Tenants Act, 2023 
 

 
The following recommendation of the Committee of Council Meeting of May 10, 2023 was 
approved by Council on May 17, 2023: 
 

CW185-2023 

1. That the report from Jessica Yadav, Assistant Policy Planner, Integrated City 

Planning, Planning, Building and Growth Management, to the Committee of Council 

Meeting of May 10, 2023, re: Recommendation Report for City Comments on Bill 

97, Helping Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023, be received; 

2. That the City’s comments and proposed recommendations to the Province contained 

and appended to the report be endorsed; and 
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3. That the City Clerk forward this report to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and 

Housing; Brampton’s Members’ of Provincial Parliament; the Association for 

Municipalities of Ontario; and the Region of Peel.  

 
In accordance with the recommendation above, a copy of the staff report is attached. 
 
 
Yours truly, 
 

Sonya Pacheco 
 

Sonya Pacheco 
Legislative Coordinator, City Clerk’s Office 
Tel: 905-874-2178  
sonya.pacheco@brampton.ca 
 
(CW – 7.2) 
 
 
 
cc:  M. Kallideen, Chief Administrative Officer 
 S. Ganesh, Commissioner, Planning, Building and Growth Management 
 H. Zbogar, Director, Integrated City Planning, Planning, Building and Growth 

Management 
J. Yadav, Assistant Policy Planner, Integrated City Planning, Planning, Building and 

Growth Management 
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  Report 

Staff Report 
The Corporation of the City of Brampton  

                                    5/10/2023 
 

Date:   2023-05-04 
 
Subject:  Recommendation Report for City Comments on Bill 97, Helping 
Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023 
  
Secondary Title: Proposed amendments by the Ontario Government to the Planning 
Act; Municipal Act, 2001; City of Toronto Act, 2006; and Residential Tenancies Act, 
2006 
 
Contact:  Steve Ganesh, Commissioner, Planning, Building and Growth 
Management 
   Henrik Zbogar, Director, Integrated City Planning 
 
Report Number: Planning, Bld & Growth Mgt-2023-398 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 

1. That the report from Jessica Yadav, Assistant Policy Planner, Integrated City 
Planning, to the Committee of Council Meeting of May 10, 2023, re: 
Recommendation Report for City Comments on Bill 97, Helping 
Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023, be received;   
  

2. That the City’s comments and proposed recommendations to the Province 
contained and appended to the report be endorsed; and  

  
3. That the City Clerk forward this report to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and 

Housing; Brampton’s Members’ of Provincial Parliament; the Association for 
Municipalities of Ontario; and the Region of Peel.  

 
 

Overview: 

 On April 6, 2023, the provincial government introduced Bill 97, the 
Helping Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023. Bill 97 builds on Bill 
23, the More Homes Built Faster Act, 2022, and is the next stage in the 
Province’s Housing Supply Action Plan.   

 Bill 97 proposes significant changes to the provincial planning 
framework and land use approvals system, as well as increased support 
for renters in Ontario.  
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 The provincial government is currently soliciting comments on the 
proposed legislative changes through 9 postings which the City will be 
commenting on through the Environmental Registry of Ontario (ERO) and 
Ontario’s Regulatory Registry (ORR), prior to their commenting deadlines 
of May 6, May 21, and June 5, 2023.   

 This report focuses on the 5 postings with a commenting deadline of May 
21, 2023. Following this report, one additional report will be presented to 
Council for the ERO posting soliciting feedback on the proposed 
Provincial Planning Statement, with a commenting deadline of June 5, 
2023.   

 Key proposed changes to the Planning Act outlined in this report include 
the provision of Site Plan Control for developments of 10 units or less on 
a single lot if the parcel of land is located in a prescribed area or for land 
lease communities.   

 Key proposed changes to the Residential Tenancies Act, 2006, outlined 
in this report include protecting tenants from renovation evictions, rental 
replacements, and bad faith evictions for landlords’ personal use.  

 

 
 
Background: 
 
On April 6, 2023, the provincial government introduced Bill 97 (hereinafter referred to as 
“the Bill”), the Helping Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023 which proposes 
significant changes to the provincial planning framework and land use approvals system 
and increased support for renters in Ontario. Bill 97 builds on Bill 23, the More Homes 
Built Faster Act, 2022, and is the next stage of the Province’s Housing Supply Action 
Plan to meet their goal of facilitating the construction of 1.5 million new homes by 
2031.   
  
The Province of Ontario is currently soliciting comments on the proposed legislative 
changes through 9 postings which the City will be commenting on, through the 
Environmental Registry of Ontario and Ontario’s Regulatory Registry, with commenting 
deadlines of May 6, 2023, May 21, 2023, and June 5, 2023 (Appendix 1). One prior 
report was presented to Council on May 3, 2023 for ERO/ORR postings with 
commenting deadlines of May 6, 2023 and one additional report will be presented for 
the ERO posting with a commenting deadline of June 5, 2023.   
  
The changes proposed through the 9 postings include the integration of the Provincial 
Policy Statement (PPS) and A Place to Grow: Growth Plan for the Greater Golden 
Horseshoe (APTG) into a single Provincial Planning Statement, and amendments to the 
Planning Act; Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing Act; City of Toronto Act, 2006; 
Residential Tenancies Act, 2006; Development Charges Act, 1997; and Municipal Act, 
2001.  
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Current Situation: 
 
This report focuses on the following ERO and ORR postings, with commenting 
deadlines on May 21st, 2023:   

1. Site Plan for Residential Developments of 10 or Fewer Units – Two Proposed 
new Minister’s Regulations under the Planning Act and the City of Toronto Act, 
2006  

2. Seeking Feedback on Proposed Changes to Help Protect Tenants from Bad 
Faith Renovation Evictions   

3. Seeking Feedback on Timeframe for Occupancy for Landlord's Own Use 
Evictions   

4. Seeking Feedback on Future Regulations to Create a Balanced Framework 
Around Municipal Rental Replacement By-Laws  

 
The City has no comments regarding ORR posting 23-MMAH004 – Proposed 
amendments to freeze all Building Code fees.  
 
Outlined below is a summary of the most significant changes proposed by the Bill.   
  
Brampton’s detailed comments and recommendations are included in Appendix 2, 
Registry responses.  
 
Planning Act, City of Toronto Act (ERO No. 019-6822)  
  

Key Changes  City Comments  
Planning Act; and City of Toronto Act, 2006  

The proposed changes are intended to allow 
municipalities to use site plan control for 
residential developments of 10 or fewer 
units on a single lot in a prescribed area (in 
addition to in the context of land lease 
communities where site plan control can 
already be used).  

Site plan control provides a key 
opportunity for the City to ensure that the 
design of new buildings integrates into the 
existing urban fabric and supports the 
achievement of the planning goals and 
objectives of the community area.   
  
The City appreciates the clarification 
provided in these proposed changes, 
specifically parcels of land located within 
300 metres of a railway line and 120 
metres from a shoreline. However, the City 
maintains the position that full site plan 
control should be restored. The City 
recommends that site plan control 
authority of residential developments of 10 
units or less be fully restored.   
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Residential Tenancies Act (ORR No. 23-MMAH006; and 23-MMAH007)  
  

Key Changes  City Comments  
The proposed amendments to the 
Residential Tenancies Act intend to protect 
tenants from bad faith evictions due to 
renovations/repairs and support tenants in 
exercising their right of first refusal when 
returning to a unit that they were evicted 
from due to renovations. The amendments 
would:   

 require landlords to provide written 
notice about the status of 
renovations;  

 require landlords to provide a grace 
period of at least 60 days after the 
unit is ready for occupancy for the 
tenant to move back in; and,   

 permit a tenant to apply to the 
Landlord and Tenant Board (LTB) 
when their landlord does not comply 
with the above requirements.  

The City is supportive of increased rights 
and additional protections for tenants in 
Brampton. The City appreciates the 
requirement for landlords to provide written 
notifications about the status of the 
renovations, and the requirement for 
landlords to obtain and provide a report 
stating the repairs require the unit to be 
vacant before a tenant is required to leave.  
  
The City requests clarification on the 
remedy for the landlord’s failure to comply 
with the requirements.  

The proposed amendments to the 
Residential Tenancies Act intend to deter 
and protect tenants from bad faith evictions, 
where a landlord has falsely indicated they 
require the rental unit for their own, or for 
an immediate family member or caregiver’s, 
use. The amendments would require a 
landlord to:  

 provide at least 60 days’ notice to 
the tenant;  

 apply to the LTB to end the tenancy 
if the tenant does not vacate in 
accordance with the notice; and,  

 compensate the tenant for one 
month’s rent or offer another rental 
unit acceptable to the tenant.  

The City is supportive of increased rights 
and additional protections for tenants in 
Brampton. A reasonable timeframe to 
require that a landlord move in after the 
tenant has vacated the unit within 60 
days. Unless the landlord is undertaking 
renovations to the unit, it is reasonable to 
assume that they will be able to move in 
within 60 days.   

 
 
  

10.3-7

https://www.ontariocanada.com/registry/view.do?postingId=44408&language=en
https://www.ontariocanada.com/registry/view.do?postingId=44408&language=en
https://www.ontariocanada.com/registry/view.do?postingId=44409&language=en


Municipal Act, and City of Toronto Act (ORR No. 23-MMAH005)  
  

Key Changes  City Comments  
The Province intends on considering 
several amendments to the Municipal Act 
and City of Toronto Act to regulate 
minimum requirements which municipalities 
must impose on landowners if they have 
rental replacement by-laws, including:  

 Prescribe minimum requirements for 
landowners to allow tenants to rent a 
‘replacement unit’ at the same 
location as their demolished unit, 
and at a similar rent;  

 Set common rules about the types of 
compensation required to be 
provided to displaced tenants;  

 Prescribe minimum requirements for 
landowners to build ‘replacement 
units’ with the same core features; 
and,  

 Limit municipalities from imposing 
minimum square footage 
requirements for ‘replacement 
units’.  

Given market influences over the past 
several decades, the creation of new 
purpose-built rental housing within 
Brampton has remained minimal, with the 
demand for rental outpacing supply and a 
widespread shortage of purpose-built 
rental housing throughout the city. 
Protecting the existing supply of purpose-
built rental housing is critical to ensuring 
the provision of diverse and affordable 
housing supply options in Brampton.   
  
The City recommends that rent for 
replacement units be regulated, and that 
‘similar rent’ be clearly defined.  

 

 
Corporate Implications: 
 
Financial Implications: 
There are no financial implications.  
 
Other Implications: 
The City notes that the impacts of some proposed changes will not be fully understood 
until further regulatory details are issued.  
  
 
Term of Council Priorities: 
 
Bill 97 will have impacts upon numerous 2018-2022 Term of Council Priorities, including 
but not limited to the following:  

 Brampton is a City of Opportunities – improving livability for tenants  
 Brampton is a Well-Run City – impacts to the City’s development review process  
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 Conclusion: 
 
The City of Brampton supports the provincial effort to create more housing, and to 
provide increased support to tenants. As an ongoing partner in supporting the delivery 
of a full mix and range of housing options, the City continues to implement 
recommendations from “Housing Brampton” - Brampton’s first housing strategy.  
  
The City is committed to working with the Province to overcome challenges and work 
towards their ambitious goal of delivering more housing.  
  
Given the potential economic and social impacts coming from Bill 97, it is recommended 
that the Province continue further dialogue with municipal partners like the City of 
Brampton prior to final approval of the proposed legislative changes. This will result in a 
more balanced and strategic plan aligned with provincial and municipal outcomes.  
 
 
 
Authored by:     
 

 Reviewed by:      

   
Jessica Yadav, Assistant Policy 
Planner, Integrated City Planning, 
Planning, Building and Growth 
Management  
 

 Henrik Zbogar, MCIP, RPP 
Director, Integrated City Planning, 
Planning, Building and Growth 
Management  
  

   
Approved by:      
 

 Approved by: 

  __________________________________ 
Steve Ganesh, MCIP, RPP 
Commissioner 
Planning, Building and Growth 
Management 

 Marlon Kallideen, 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

 Appendix 1 – Postings for Comment 
 Appendix 2 – Posting Response Letters 
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Environmental Registry and Regulatory Registry Postings Under 
Bill 97, Helping Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023  
 

Postings covered in this report are highlighted in the tables below. 
 

Table 1. Postings to the Environmental Registry of Ontario (ERO)  
  ERO Number  Name of Posting  Comment Deadline  

Legislation (Act)  
 1  019-6821  Proposed Planning Act, City of Toronto Act, 2006, and 

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing Act Changes 
(Schedules 2, 4, and 6 of Bill 97 - the proposed 
Helping Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023) 

May 6 

Regulation  
 2 019-6822  Site Plan for Residential Developments of 10 or Fewer 

Units – Two Proposed new Minister’s Regulations 

under the Planning Act and the City of Toronto Act, 
2006 

May 21  

Policy  
 3 019-6813  Review of proposed policies adapted from A Place to 

Grow and Provincial Policy Statement to form a new 
provincial planning policy instrument 

June 5  

  

Table 2. Postings to Ontario's Regulatory Registry (ORR)  
  ORR Number Name of Posting Comment Deadline 

Legislation (Act)  
4 23-MMAH009  Proposed Amendments to Clarify and Enhance 

Rental Rules Related to Air Conditioning 
May 6  

5 23-MMAH008 Proposed Amendments to Increase Maximum Fines 
for Offences Under the Residential Tenancies Act 

May 6 

6 23-MMAH006 Seeking Feedback on Proposed Changes to Help 
Protect Tenants from Bad Faith Renovation Evictions 

May 21 

7 23-MMAH007 Seeking Feedback on Timeframe for Occupancy for 
Landlord's Own Use Evictions 

May 21 

8 23-MMAH005 Seeking Feedback on Future Regulations to Create 
a Balanced Framework Around Municipal Rental 
Replacement By-Laws 

May 21 

Regulation 
 9 23-MMAH004  Proposed amendments to freeze all Building Code 

fees 
May 21  
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RE:  Environmental Registry of Ontario Posting 019-6822 – Site Plan for 

Residential Developments of 10 or Fewer Units – Two Proposed new 

Minister’s Regulations under the Planning Act and the City of 

Toronto Act, 2006 
 
 
From:  Steve Ganesh, Commissioner – Planning, Building and Growth 

Management Department, City of Brampton 

 

To Whom It May Concern, 

The City of Brampton (hereinafter referred to as ‘the City’) appreciates the opportunity to 

provide comments on the proposed changes outlined in the Environmental Registry of 
Ontario posting 019-6822 – Site Plan for Residential Developments of 10 or Fewer 
Units – Two Proposed new Minister’s Regulations under the Planning Act and the City 

of Toronto Act, 2006. 

The City is supportive of efforts by the Province to address housing supply and 
development challenges, and remain committed to working with the Province towards 
their ambitious goal of delivering more housing.  

The City has reviewed the draft legislation and offer the following comment to assist the 
Province. Site plan control provides a key opportunity for the City to ensure that the 
design of new buildings integrates into the existing urban fabric and supports the 
achievement of the planning goals and objectives of the community area. Site Plan also 
plays a critical role for the City to promote sustainable design (e.g., use of Green 
Development Standards) and enables the City to take a comprehensive approach to 
planning and designing sustainable and complete communities.  
  
The City appreciates the clarification provided in these proposed changes, specifically 
parcels of land located within 300 metres of a railway line and 120 metres from a 
shoreline. However, the City maintains the position that full site plan control should be 
restored.  
 

The City of Brampton would like to thank the Province for the opportunity to provide 
feedback and comments on the proposed changes. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Steve Ganesh 
Commissioner 
Planning, Building & Growth Management 
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RE:  Ontario’s Regulatory Registry Posting 23-MMAH005 – Seeking 
Feedback on Future Regulations to Create a Balanced Framework 
Around Municipal Rental Replacement By-Laws  

 
 
From:  Steve Ganesh, Commissioner – Planning, Building and Growth 

Management Department, City of Brampton 

 

To Whom It May Concern,  
 
The City of Brampton (hereinafter referred to as ‘the City’) is submitting this letter in 
relation to the Ontario’s Regulatory Registry posting 23-MMAH005 – Seeking Feedback 
on Future Regulations to Create a Balanced Framework Around Municipal Rental 
Replacement By-Laws. The City is supportive of efforts by the Province to address 
tenants’ rights.   
 
The City has reviewed the draft legislation and offer the following comment to assist 
the Province. The number of renters in Brampton has grown from 18.5% in 2006, to 
20% in 2016, and 22% in 2021. However, given market influences over the past 
several decades, the creation of new purpose-built rental housing within Brampton has 
remained minimal, with the demand for rental outpacing supply and a widespread 
shortage of purpose-built rental housing throughout the city. Protecting the existing 
supply of purpose-built rental housing is critical to ensuring the provision of diverse 
and affordable housing supply options in Brampton.   
  
The City recommends that rent for replacement units be regulated, and that ‘similar 
rent’ be clearly defined. ‘Similar rent’ could be defined as the last rent paid by the 
tenant with an increase no higher than the annual Provincial Guideline of a one-time 
capital allowance of 3%. Primary rental units are an important part of the affordable 
housing stock in the city, and it is vital that affordability is not compromised once 
replacement units are built.  
 
Furthermore, as per comments submitted under Bill 23, the Minister should not limit 
municipal powers but expand them to ensure that the integral purpose-built rental 
stock in the city can be maintained and expanded. The Province should also authorize 
municipalities to require a minimum number of units and a minimum GFA through the 
replacement units, reflecting the need for larger-sized rental units. 
 
Sincerely,   
 
Steve Ganesh  
Commissioner  
Planning, Building & Growth Management  
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RE:  Ontario’s Regulatory Registry Posting 23-MMAH006 – Seeking 
Feedback on Proposed Changes to Help Protect Tenants from Bad 
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
relation to the Ontario’s Regulatory Registry posting 23-MMAH006 – Seeking Feedback 
on Proposed Changes to Help Protect Tenants from Bad Faith Renovation Evictions. 
The City is supportive of efforts by the Province to address tenants’ rights.   
 
The City has reviewed the draft legislation and offer the following comment to assist the 
Province. The City is supportive of increased rights and additional protections for 
tenants in Brampton. The City appreciates the requirement for landlords to provide 
written notifications about the status of the renovations, and the requirement for 
landlords to obtain and provide a report stating the repairs require the unit to be vacant 
before a tenant is required to leave.  
 

The City supports the 60-day grace period requirement, as many tenants will need to 
provide two months' notice to their current landlord if they have needed to rent 
elsewhere in the interim while the renovations are being completed. Without it, renters 
seeking temporary accommodation may have been penalized and incurring additional 
costs without the 60-day period.  
 
The City requests clarification on the remedy for the landlord’s failure to comply with the 
requirements.  
 
  
 
Sincerely,   
 
 
Steve Ganesh  
Commissioner  
Planning, Building & Growth Management 
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RE:  Ontario’s Regulatory Registry Posting 23-MMAH007 – Seeking 
Feedback on Timeframe for Occupancy for Landlord's Own Use 
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
relation to the Ontario’s Regulatory Registry posting 23-MMAH007 – Seeking Feedback 
on Timeframe for Occupancy for Landlord's Own Use Evictions. The City is supportive 
of efforts by the Province to address tenants’ rights.   
 

The City has reviewed the draft legislation and offer the following comment to assist the 
Province. The City is supportive of increased rights and additional protections for 
tenants in Brampton. A reasonable timeframe to require that a landlord move in after the 
tenant has vacated the unit is within a 60-day timeframe.  If proof of significant work on 
the property is required with relevant documentation, this should be the only reason why 
going beyond the reasonable timeframe would be required (e.g., redesign for 
accommodation purposes, etc.) 

  
In addition, it can be difficult for tenants to know whether a landlord has given notice in 
bad faith. The City recommends that, if a landlord evicts a tenant under Section 48, the 
landlord should be required to provide proof to the tenant that either they or an 
immediate family member or caregiver have occupied the unit within 30 days of moving 
in, such as proof of address on a government issued ID or a utility bill.   
  
Sincerely,  
  
 

Steve Ganesh  
Commissioner  
Planning, Building & Growth Management  
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